2011

# Utah v. Loren Okuly : Appellant's Opening Brief

Utah Court of Appeals

**STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

This is an appeal from the judgment and conviction of Loren Okuly ("Appellant") on one count of Criminal Mischief, a class B misdemeanor, in violation of Utah Code Ann. §76-6-106(2)(c). (R. at 222-23; Add. I). This Court obtains jurisdiction to hear this appeal of a criminal case from a court of record pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103(2)(e).

All of the issues raised herein were appropriately preserved through timely objection at trial.

**ISSUES PRESENTED AND STANDARD OF REVIEW**

I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FAILING TO GIVE A REQUESTED JURY INSTRUCTION REGARDING JUSTIFICATION AS A DEFENSE WHERE MR. OKULY TESTIFIED THAT HE GRABBED THE ALLEGED VICTIM'S PHONE TO PREVENT HER FROM USING IT AS A WEAPON AGAINST HIM AND DAMAGE ALLEGEDLY CAUSED THEREBY WAS THE BASIS OF THE CRIMINAL MISCHIEF CONVICTION AT ISSUE?

A trial court's decision and ruling regarding whether to give a requested jury instruction is reviewed for correctness. *State v. Bryant*, 965 P.2d 539, 544 (Utah App. 1998).

This issue was appropriately preserved at trial through a timely objection. The Court gave Defense Counsel leave to reserve an objection as the Court read the jury instructions. (Tr. Vol II p. 422-23).<sup>1</sup>

Counsel explained the basis for the objection and requested a justification jury instruction in relation to Counts II and III outside the presence of the jury. (Tr. Vol II p. 423-25). The trial court overruled Defendant's objection and declined to give the requested jury instruction on justification. (Tr. Vol II p. 425).

## II. WHETHER RECORDING LAPSES IN THE TRIAL TRANSCRIPT REQUIRE A NEW TRIAL WHERE UP TO THIRTY MINUTES OF THE ALLEGED VICTIM'S TESTIMONY WAS NOT RECORDED AND WHERE THE TRIAL COURT'S SUBSEQUENT RECONSTRUCTION IS INCOMPLETE AND INADEQUATE.

The sufficiency of a trial court's reconstruction of the record is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Menzies*, 845 P.2d 220, 223 (Utah 1992).

This issue was preserved for review through the filing of Appellant's motion to remand the case for reconstruction of the record pursuant to rule 11(h) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. This issue was further preserved by the filing of the document entitled "Position of Defendant Regarding Reconstruction of Trial Record" where

---

<sup>1</sup> Volume I of the trial transcript is found in the record on appeal at p. 239; Volume II is found at p. 240.

Appellant argued that “[g]iven the number of lapses, their combined and individual durations, and given the importance of the unrecorded testimony, the record in this case cannot be reconstructed.” (R. at 268).<sup>2</sup>

### **RELEVANT CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES AND RULES**

The following relevant constitutional provisions, statutes and rules are referred to in Appellants’ Brief and are reproduced at Addendum III: Article I, Sections 7 and 12 of the Constitution for the State of Utah; Utah Code Ann. §76-6-106, §76-2-401, §76-2-402, and Rule 19 of the Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### *A. Nature of the Case*

An Information filed on or about September 20, 2010, charged Appellant as follows: Count I, Aggravated Assault (Domestic Violence), a third degree felony in violation of Utah Code Ann. §76-5-103; Count II, Criminal Mischief (Domestic Violence Enhancement under Utah Code Ann. Utah Code Ann. §77-36-1.1), a class A misdemeanor in violation of Utah Code Ann. §76-6-106; Count III, Damage To or Interruption of a Communication Device (Domestic Violence Enhancement under Utah Code Ann. Utah Code Ann. §77-36-1.1), a class A misdemeanor in violation of Utah Code Ann. §76-6-108. (R. at 1-4).

---

<sup>2</sup> Citations to the record on appeal shall be made as follows: (R. at [page number]).

*B. Course of Proceedings*

Following a preliminary hearing on January 18, 2011, Appellant was bound over on one third degree felony and two class B misdemeanors. There were no predicate prior convictions such that the State dismissed the domestic violence enhancements to Counts II and III. Appellant was bound over to stand trial on the following charges: Count I, Aggravated Assault (Domestic Violence), a third degree felony in violation of Utah Code Ann. §76-5-103; Count II, Criminal Mischief (Domestic Violence), a class B misdemeanor in violation of Utah Code Ann. §76-6-106; Count III, Damage To or Interruption of a Communication Device (Domestic Violence), a class B misdemeanor in violation of Utah Code Ann. §76-6-108. (R. at 238; prelim. trans. at 70).

*C. Disposition in Trial Court*

On January 18, 2011, Defendant was bound over for trial on one third degree felony and two class B misdemeanors. Defendant was tried by a jury of his peers on June 14 and June 15, 2011. At the conclusion of trial, the jury acquitted Appellant of Count I, Aggravated Assault and Count III, Interruption of a Communication Device. The jury convicted Defendant on Count II, criminal mischief, a class B misdemeanor. [R. at 214-15; Jury Verdict].

*D. Statement of Material Facts*

*i. The Parties Agreed as to What Happened Leading Up to the Altercation at Issue*

In August, 2010, Mr. Okuly and Ms. Tischner were dating. Ms. Tischner resided in Mr. Okuly's house temporarily while she looked for a more permanent residence. (Tr. Vol. I, p. 66-67). On August 13, 2010, Ms. Tischner went to a friend's wedding, Ms. Tischner was the maid of honor at her friend's wedding. (Tr. Vol. I, p. 68). Ms. Tischner attended the wedding and the reception following thereafter. (Tr. Vol. I, p. 69). She attended the festivities until approximately 11:45pm. (Tr. Vol I, p. 70). Ms. Tischner admitted that she "probably" drank more than eight beers that night. (Tr. Vol I, p. 126). She further testified that she was more drunk that night than she had ever been. *Id.* Nonetheless, she received a ride to Mr. Okuly's home from a designated driver, her ex-husband, and arrived at the Okuly residence at approximately midnight. (Tr. Vol. I, p. 71). Ms. Tischner testified that she continued drinking at Mr. Okuly's house and then went to bed. (Tr. Vol. I. p. 75).

Ms. Tischner testified that she and Mr. Okuly had gotten into an argument over the phone earlier that evening about whether Mr. Okuly would go to the wedding reception and who Ms. Tischner would get a ride home with. (Tr. Vol. I, p. 72-73). Ms. Tischner

locked the bedroom door when she went to bed. (Tr. Vol. I, p. 77).

During this time, Mr. Okuly was not at the wedding but he was attended a friend's birthday party. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 293). There was a large group of people at this party. Mr. Okuly knew several of them very well, but there were many people there he either did not know or did not know well. *Id.* The party started at Derek Fox's house. *Id.* Mr. Fox lives in a house very near Mr. Okuly's residence, His house is approximately one hundred yards from Mr. Okuly's. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 294, 386). The party went to a venue in the downtown Salt Lake City area and then returned to Mr. Fox's house between 1:00 a.m. And 2:00 a.m. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 294).

Shortly after arriving at Mr. Fox's home, Mr. Okuly walked home to his own house. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 295). He tried to get into his room to go to bed but noticed that Ms. Tischner had locked the door. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 295). Mr. Okuly then took his dog for a walk back over to Mr. Fox's house. Mr. Okuly testified that he socialized with friends at Mr. Fox's house from approximately 2:00 a.m. to approximately 3:00 a.m. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 297).

Mr. Okuly noticed that the door to his bedroom was still locked. He obtained a toothpick and used it to pick the bedroom door lock. The locks in Mr. Okuly's house are constructed in such a way that this is very easy to do. *Id.*

The parties' testimony was fairly consistent to this point. However, Mr. Okuly's version of events for what happened once he entered the bedroom differed drastically to that of Ms. Tischner.

*ii. Mr. Okuly's Testimony Concerning the Altercation*

Mr. Okuly's testimony was consistent with the jury's not-guilty verdicts. He testified that, after he unlocked the bedroom door with a toothpick, he turned the lights on for a moment, and then got into his bed. Ms. Tischner was in his bed. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 297). Ms. Tischner began screaming at Mr. Okuly, demanding that he leave. She simultaneously began physically kicking him repeatedly in the back as he laid down. She kicked him at least five times till she “actually kicked [Mr. Okuly] with enough force to knock [him] clear off the bed and fall onto the floor.” (Tr. Vol. II at 297-98). Mr. Okuly then took a blanket, left the bedroom, and proceeded downstairs to sleep on the couch. (Tr. Vol. II at 298-99). Ms. Tischner was left with a sheet and a blanket and stayed in the bed. (Tr. Vol. II at 300).

After laying on the couch downstairs for five or ten minutes, Mr Okuly went back upstairs to his bedroom to sleep in his bed. (Tr. Vol. II at 299, 301). The door was not locked and Ms. Tischner was still laying on the bed. (Tr. Vol. II at 300). Mr. Okuly took



the blankets from the bed and threw them down the hallway. At the time he intended Ms. Tischner to chase the blankets down the hall giving him an opportunity to enter his bedroom to go to sleep. (Tr. Vol. II at 301). By this point in time, there had been no hostile touching between the parties aside from Ms. Tischner physically kicking Defendant out of the bed. (Tr. Vol. II at 302).

Ms. Tischner got up, but she did not go get the blankets as Mr. Okuly had intended. Instead Ms. Tischner hit Mr. Okuly. (Tr. Vol. II at 302). Mr. Okuly, in response, said, "Did you seriously just hit me?" Ms. Tischner replied, "No" and hit Mr. Okuly a second time. Mr. Okuly, in response, said, "That's two." Ms. Tischner hit Mr. Okuly a third time. Mr. Okuly, in response, said, "Three." Ms. Tischner hit Mr. Okuly a fourth time. Mr. Okuly, in response, said, "Four." Ms. Tischner hit Mr. Okuly a fifth time. Mr. Okuly, in response, said, "Five." Ms. Tischner hit Mr. Okuly a sixth time. Mr. Okuly, in response, said, "Six." Ms. Tischner hit Mr. Okuly a seventh time. Mr. Okuly, in response, said, "Seven." Ms. Tischner hit Mr. Okuly an eighth time. Mr. Okuly, in response, said, "Eight." Ms. Tischner hit Mr. Okuly a ninth time. Mr. Okuly, in response, said, "Nine." Mr. Okuly stopped counting after either the tenth or eleventh time that Ms. Tischner hit him. (Tr. Vol. II at 304-05). During this entire time, Mr. Okuly did not fight back in any way. He "just stood there and accepted it." (Tr. Vol. II at 305-

06).

Mr. Okuly testified that Ms. Tischner's phone was definitely in her hand the last time she hit him. She was hitting him with her phone. (Tr. Vol. II at 305-06). He believed that the phone was in her hand the entire time that she was hitting him but he declined to say he was sure on this point. (Tr. Vol. II at 306). However, Mr. Okuly was sure that Ms. Tischner was hitting him with her phone on her last strike because he took her phone from her hand so she would stop hitting him with it. (Tr. Vol. II at 306-07).

Mr. Okuly grabbed Ms. Tischner's arm with his right hand and disarmed her of her phone with his left hand. (Tr. Vol. II at 307). As Mr. Okuly disarmed Ms. Tischner and stopped her from hitting him, she fell to ground as though she were sitting down. (Tr. Vol. II at 308). Mr. Okuly did not push her down but she fell to the ground. (Tr. Vol. II at 309).

Derek Fox is a good friend of Mr. Okuly. He testified that Mr. Okuly called him from the jail shortly after his arrest and told him what happened. The version of events that Mr. Okuly testified to was similar in all material respects to how he testified at trial. (Tr. Vol. II at 402).

Mr. Okuly did not let go of Ms. Tischner's arm and he fell to the ground with her. (Tr. Vol II at 311). Mr. Okuly held Ms. Tischner's arm across her chest momentarily, for a

“couple of seconds” and said, “You need to stop. Stop. Stop. Stop.” Then Mr. Okuly “jumped up” and “ran down the hall.” (Tr. Vol. II at 313). Mr. Okuly ran into his room and locked the door. (Tr. Vol. II at 314).

*iii. Ms. Tischner's Version of the Altercation*

Ms. Tischner testified that she woke to Mr. Okuly poking her with a toothpick. (Tr. Vol. I, p. 76-77). She testified that he then ripped the covers from her. She testified that a struggle ensued over the covers. Mr. Okuly was trying to remove them while Ms. Tischner was holding onto them. This struggle started in the bedroom and continued into the hallway. (Tr. Vol. I, p. 78).

Ms. Tischner testified that she was facing away from Mr. Okuly, Mr. Okuly was behind her, and Mr. Okuly pushed her down the stairs. (Tr. Vol. I, p. 81). Ms. Tischner testified that she fell all the way to the bottom of the stairs and then immediately started walking back up the stairs towards Mr. Okuly. (Tr. Vol. I, p. 83). Ms. Tischner said that she did this to get her phone, that she testified was in Mr. Okuly's possession, to call for a ride. (Tr. Vol. I, p. 83).

She testified that she asked for her phone to call for a ride. (Tr. Vol. I, p. 84). She testified that Mr. Okuly threatened to plug it into his computer to see who she had been

talking to. (Tr. Vol. I, p. 84-85). As they were arguing over the phone, Ms. Tischner testified that she threatened to call the police unless she received her phone. (Tr. Vol. I, p. 85). She testified that Mr. Okuly began hitting her on her arms repeatedly with her phone as she blocked the blows. (Tr. Vol. I, p. 86-87). She testified that Mr. Okuly finally threw her phone down the stairs. (Tr. Vol. I, p. 84-85).

Ms. Tischner then testified that Mr. Okuly put her on the ground and held her down at the top of the stairs. She testified that Mr. Okuly choked her by pressing the back of his arm against her throat as he pinned her down at the top of the stairs. (Tr. Vol. I, p. 88). Ms. Tischner testified that she couldn't breathe. (Tr. Vol. I, p. 91). She testified that Mr. Okuly then left her and proceeded to enter his bedroom. *Id.*

iv. *The Parties Agreed as to What Happened After the Altercation at Issue*

The parties both testified that after Mr. Okuly fled from Ms. Tischner and locked himself in his bedroom, Ms. Tischner did not immediately leave the house. She followed Mr. Okuly to his bedroom and began banging on his door. She eventually started kicking the door and actually cracked the door. (Tr. Vol. II at 314-15, Tr. Vol I at 172). As Ms. Tischner beat and kicked the door, she cracked it in two places. One crack was in the middle of the door and another crack ran down the edge of the door by the latch. (Tr. Vol.

II at 317).

After breaking Mr. Okuly's bedroom door, Ms. Tischner left the house. (Tr. Vol. I at 95). Mr. Okuly did not prevent her from leaving, he had locked himself in his bedroom. (Tr. Vol. II at 317). Ms. Tischner ran to Derek Fox's house where she saw people sitting on the front porch. (Tr. Vol. I at 95-96). Ms. Tischner borrowed the phone of a Mr. Chad Scarborough. She said she was going to call her mother but she in fact used the phone to immediately call 911. (Tr. Vol. I at 96; Vol. II at 279).

Officer Moore was the first officer to respond to the scene. (Tr. Vol. I at 97). Officer Elkins arrived shortly thereafter and spoke with Ms. Tischner. (Tr. Vol. I at 99). He took photos of Ms. Tischner at the scene. (Tr. Vol. I at 102). Ms. Tischner testified that her mother took some photos of her that morning and that Officer Elkins took additional photographs at approximately 9:00 p.m. that night. (Tr. Vol. I at 103). Ms. Tischner conceded from the stand that the photos did not clearly show any bruising but she testified that the bruises developed a few days later. (Tr. Vol. I at 106-07). Officer Elkins eventually took Mr. Okuly into custody. (Tr. Vol. I at 220).

Derek Fox testified that he was Mr. Okuly's best friend and had a key and a key code to enter Mr. Okuly's house. (Tr. Vol. II at 389, 392). Mr. Fox met Ms. Tischner at Mr. Okuly's residence just before noon on August 14, 2010. He did not observe any

injuries on Ms. Tischner's person. (Tr. Vol. II at 391-92). Ms. Tischner told Mr. Fox that she wanted to move out of the residence, and Mr. Fox offered to help Ms. Tischner move her belongings out of the house. Ms. Tischner indicated that she would call Mr. Fox the next day to make arrangement to move out of Mr. Okuly's residence. (Tr. Vol. II at 393). However, Ms. Tischner did not call Mr. Fox the next day. Mr. Fox saw Mr. Okuly's lights on later that night and went to his friend's house to investigate. (Tr. Vol. II at 394). He saw Ms. Tischner inside the residence with a man that Mr. Fox did not recognize. Mr. Fox knocked on the door. Ms. Tischner did not answer the door, instead she called the police and police arrived and told Mr. Fox he had to leave. Ms. Tischner did not call Mr. Fox the next day. (Tr. Vol. II at 394-95).

v. *The Medical Evidence Was Inconsistent With Ms. Tischner's Claims*

Dr. Mark Stevens testified in this case. He is a board certified emergency room physician. (Tr. Vol. I at 43). Dr. Stevens testified that he treated Ms. Tischner on August 14, 2010. Ms. Tischner was complaining of neck pain. Dr. Stevens diagnosed Ms. Tischner with a cervical strain, which means strained muscles in the neck. (Tr. Vol. I at 44-45). Dr. Stevens ordered an X-ray of Ms. Tischner's neck. Upon reviewing the X-rays, he noticed no soft tissue swelling and normal alignment. (Tr. Vol. I at 45). Dr.

Stevens testified that the radiologist, who also reviewed the x-rays at issue, noticed “non-displaced fracture of c2 spinous process.” Dr. Stevens then explained, “it means that there was a subtle abnormality on the X-ray that the radiologist noted, but it wasn't – it wasn't clearly a fracture.” (Tr. Vol. I at 46).

Dr. Stevens further testified that injuries like those he observed during his examination of Ms. Tischner could “occur lots of different ways,” including a deceleration injury, choking, falling, playing sports, or being in a car wreck. (Tr. Vol. 1 at 47).

Dr. Stevens testified that, during his tenure as an emergency room physician, he had seen other patients come in after complaining of having fallen down stairs. Head injuries resulting in a sub-dural hematoma were the most common injury that Dr. Davies associated with being thrown down stairs. (Tr. Vol. I at 48-49). However, the only injury Ms. Tischner presented was neck pain. (Tr. Vol. I at 50).

Dr. Stevens testified that Ms. Tischner's medical record indicated that she arrived at the hospital at 9:53 p.m. on August 14, 2010. And that she was discharged at 10:47 p.m. (Tr. Vol. I at 52). There was some discrepancy as to the time she went to the ER and the time she met with Officer Elkins on the evening of August 14, 2010. Both Ms. Tischner and Officer Elkins testified that Ms. Tishner went to the ER before Officer

Elkins met with her. However, both Officer Elkins and Ms. Tischner testified at the preliminary hearing in this case that he met with Ms. Tischner between 8 p.m. and 8:30 p.m. (Tr. Vol. I at 223-24, 226).

Ms. Tischner lied to Dr. Davies claiming that she did not use alcohol. (Tr. Vol. I at 53). Ms. Tischner did not tell Dr. Davies that she had been drinking heavily when she incurred her neck pain. (Tr. Vol. I at 53-54). Dr. Davies noted no bruising anywhere on Ms. Tischner's body. There were no red marks on Ms. Tischner's neck, and she had no trouble breathing. (Tr. Vol. I at 55).

Dr. Davies testified that Ms. Tischner's moderate neck pain could have been caused in any number of ways. (Tr. Vol. I at 56). He testified that if someone had been strangled for two to four minutes such that the person was unable to breathe, he'd have expected to see marks on the neck. (Tr. Vol. I at 57). There were no marks on Ms. Tischner's neck. (Tr. Vol. I at 57).

*vi. Ms. Tischner Made Several Inconsistent Statements While This Case Was Pending*

During the course of this case, Ms. Tischner gave her description of what happened to Officer Elkins, she gave a written statement on September 25, 2010, she was interviewed by Ron Edwards, a defense investigator on October 20, 2010, and she



testified at the preliminary hearing in January, 2011. (Tr. Vol. I at 128).

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