2011

Utah v. Loren Okuly : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The supplemented record is adequate to afford Defendant a full and fair review of his claim on appeal. Defendant claims that the record is inadequate because it contains a discrepancy and an alleged inaccuracy in the testimony, and does not contain a record of his objections and the trial court's associated rulings, thus curtailing his ability to identify potential issues for appeal.

But nothing suggests that the allegedly missing testimony would clarify the inconsistency or establish the claimed inaccuracy. Moreover, the alleged inconsistency and inaccuracy go only to peripheral matters tangential to Defendant's guilt or innocence. Finally, as precedent explains, a defendant is not entitled to a new trial simply because there is a gap in the

record that might reveal some error. Rather, he is entitled to a record adequate to review specific claims of error already raised. Here, the record is adequate to provide review of Defendant's one claim.

2. Defendant claims that he was entitled to a self-defense instruction justifying his destroying Michelle's phone. The self-defense statute allows the use of force against persons, not objects, where necessary to defend against another's unlawful use or threat of force. Thus, as the trial court ruled, it does not apply to criminal mischief.

But even if it did, there is no rational basis in the evidence to support a reasonable belief that Defendant intentionally destroyed the phone to protect himself. The victim's testimony was that Defendant was the aggressor, thus precluding a claim of self-defense. Defendant's own testimony is that he took the phone away from the victim and went to his bedroom. Defendant did not testify that he broke the phone, that he intended to break it, or that he had to break it to defend himself. Defendant's friend's hearsay testimony was that Defendant said he took the phone away from the victim and then tossed it from the upstairs balcony down onto the couch. At best, this would support a finding that Defendant intentionally moved the phone to a place where the victim could not access it, not that he intentionally broke the phone, much less that he had to break

it to defend himself. Thus, as the trial court also found, there was no rational basis in the evidence for Defendant to claim that he committed criminal mischief—the intentional destruction of another’s property—but only in self-defense.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE SUPPLEMENTED RECORD IS ADEQUATE TO AFFORD DEFENDANT A FULL AND FAIR REVIEW OF THE SINGLE ISSUE ON APPEAL

Defendant claims that the supplemented record is inadequate for the three reasons:

(1) the trial court “describes a discrepancy as to whether [Michelle] went to the [emergency room] before or after her interview with Officer Elkins” on the night of the incident, Br. Appellant 31;

(2) the trial court order supplementing the record contains an “apparent inaccuracy”—the “trial court concluded that [Michelle] testified that she did not post Defendant’s mug[shot] on her facebook page,” but Defendant’s Exhibit 22 “clearly shows [Defendant’s] mug shot posted on [her] facebook page,” *id.*; and

(3) the supplemental record contains no record of Defendant’s objections or the trial court’s associated rulings, curtailing Defendant’s

opportunity “to identify potential issues that warrant investigation,” *id.* at 32.

Applicable law. Utah courts review a trial court’s determination that the record is sufficient for appellate review under the abuse of discretion standard. *State v. Menzies*, 845 P.2d 220, 224 (Utah 1992). They “will not find abuse of discretion unless, given the applicable facts and law, the trial court’s decision is unreasonable.” *Id.* (citation omitted). As explained, such deference is appropriate because the “judge who presided over the trial is in a far better position to determine whether the record adequately reflects the proceedings.” *Id.*

Moreover, “a defendant is [not] entitled to a new trial whenever there is a gap in the record, just in case the missing record might reveal some error.” *Provo City v. Garcia-Sanchez*, 2008 UT App 155U, *1 (quoting *State v. Russell*, 917 P.2d 557, 559 (Utah App. 1996)) (internal quotation marks omitted) (alteration in original). Utah law requires “that there be a record adequate to review specific claims of error *already raised*, but it does not require a complete record so appellate counsel can go fishing for error.” *Id.* (quoting *Russell*, 917 P.2d at 559) (internal quotation marks omitted).

In addition, “where an appellant’s best case is that he elicited contradictory evidence that is missing from the record, . . . an appellate

court can rely on the presumption that the jury disbelieved the evidence in conflict with the jury verdict and find that there is evidence sufficient to support the jury's findings." *Id.* (quoting *State v. Gardner*, 2007 UT 70, ¶25, 167 P.3d 1074) (internal quotation marks and additional citation omitted).

Analysis. Here, Defendant brings only one claim of error. He claims that the trial court erred for not giving his proposed instruction that he was justified in damaging the phone to defend himself against Michelle's imminent use of unlawful force (the self-defense instruction). *See* Point II, below. But the possible inadequacies in the evidentiary record that Defendant alleges do not bear on this issue. Rather, the evidence that Defendant asserts may be missing relates only to matters having little significance to Defendant's guilt or innocence of criminal mischief and no bearing at all on whether he was entitled to a self-defense instruction. Whether Michelle went to the emergency room before or after her interview with Officer Elkins and whether she posted Defendant's mug shot on her Facebook page have, at best, tangential significance to the issues at trial and and no significance to the issue on appeal.

Further, while Defendant claims that some objections and rulings may be missing from the record, he does not claim that any missing objections and rulings are relevant to his request for a self-defense

instruction. Rather, he claims that these possibly missing objections and rulings curtail his ability to investigate the possibility of other errors. *See* Br. Appellant 32. But this does not make the record inadequate to permit appellate review of the one issue he has raised. And, as explained, a record that allows appellate review of the issue already raised is adequate. *See Garcia-Sanchez*, 2008 UT App 155U, *1. Utah law “does not require a complete record so appellate counsel can go fishing for error.” *Id.* (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

In sum, Defendant has not shown that the supplemented record is inadequate. He has not shown that the trial judge abused his discretion by deciding to supplement the record rather than finding that it could not be adequately supplemented.

II.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR WHEN IT DENIED DEFENDANT'S PROPOSED INSTRUCTION ON SELF- DEFENSE

Defendant also claims that “the trial court erred in failing to give a requested jury instruction regarding justification as a defense where [he] testified that he took the alleged victim’s phone to prevent her from using it as a weapon against him and damage allegedly caused thereby was the basis of the criminal mischief charge.” Br. Appellant 26. Defendant cites as authority Utah Code Ann. §76-2-401, the justification statute, which sets

forth justification as a defense, and, specifically, Utah Code Ann. §76-2-402, the self-defense statute referenced in section 401. See Br. Appellant 26.

But the trial court did not err by denying an instruction on self-defense as a justification for criminal mischief. *State v. Menzies*, 845 P.2d 220, 224 (Utah 1992). As the trial court reasoned, self-defense is not a justification applicable to criminal mischief and, in any event, the evidence provided no rational basis for the instruction. See R240:423. Finally, even if Defendant was entitled to the instruction, the trial court's refusal to give it caused him no harm.

A. Utah law governing self-defense instructions.

Under Utah law, the defense of justification may be claimed when an actor's conduct "is in defense of persons or property under the circumstances described in Sections 76-2-402 through 76-2-406." Utah Code Ann. §76-2-401(1)(a) (West 2004). Defendant relies on section 402, which provides, "A person is justified in threatening or using force against another when and to the extent that the person reasonably believes that force or a threat of force is necessary to defend the person . . . against another person's imminent use of unlawful force." Br. Appellant 26 (quoting Utah Code Ann. §76-2-402(1)(a) (West Supp. 2011)).

But a person "is not justified in using force if he was the aggressor." Utah Code Ann. §76-2-402(2)(iii). Nor is he justified if he "initially provokes the use of force against himself with the intent to use force as an excuse to inflict bodily harm upon the assailant." Utah Code Ann. §76-2-402(2)(i).

Moreover, in determining the imminence of the threat against a defendant and the reasonableness of the defendant's actions in response, a jury may properly consider: "the nature of the danger," "the immediacy of the danger," the probability that the unlawful force would result in death or serious bodily injury," "the other's prior violent acts or violent propensities," and "any patterns of abuse or violence in the parties' relationship." Utah Code Ann. §76-2-402(5). "[I]t is the imminence of the harm to another that is central to the legal justification of violence to prevent it." *State v. Berriel*, 2011 UT App 317, ¶6, 262 P.3d 1212. Thus, "[t]he right to [self-defense] ceases when the danger has passed or ceased to be imminent." *State v. Stark*, 627 P.2d 88, 91 (Utah 1981).

Utah courts have held that, when a defendant requests a self-defense instruction under section 76-2-402, a trial court must give it whenever "there is a basis in the evidence, whether the evidence is produced by the prosecution or by the defendant, which would provide *some reasonable basis*" for a jury to conclude that a crime was committed in self-defense. *State v.*

Garcia, 2001 UT App 19, ¶8, 18 P.3d 1123 (quoting *State v. Knoll*, 712 P.2d 211, 214 (Utah 1985)) (internal quotation marks omitted); see also *State v. Torres*, 619 P.2d 694, 695 (Utah 1980) (stating that a party is entitled to self-defense jury instruction “if there is any reasonable basis in the evidence to justify it”). In other words, the instruction should be given when there is a rational basis in the evidence to conclude that the crime “was done to protect the defendant from an imminent threat . . . by another.” *Knoll*, 712 P.2d at 214.

However, a defendant is not entitled to a self-defense instruction if “a jury could not reasonably have concluded that the nature or the immediacy of the danger to [the defendant] reasonably justified a belief that it was probable that [the victim] was about to use ‘unlawful force against [him].’” *Berriel*, 2011 UT App 317, ¶6.

And even where a trial court errs for not giving a requested instruction, that error may be harmless. For instance, in *State v. Evans*, 2001 UT 22, ¶20, 20 P.3d 888, the Utah Supreme Court upheld Evans’ conviction for attempted aggravated murder even though the trial court erroneously refused to instruct the jury on the lesser included offense of attempted manslaughter. The *Evans* court acknowledged that the evidence provided a rational basis for the instruction, but nevertheless concluded that the error

was harmless because “there [was] no reasonable likelihood that it affected the outcome of the proceedings.” *Id.* (citation omitted). In that case, the only testimony to support the jury instruction was Evans’s self-serving testimony—meager evidence that stood in contrast to the testimony of the other witnesses. *Id.* at ¶¶20-22.

Similarly, a defendant suffers no harm where the jury’s verdict demonstrates that denying the instruction was harmless. In *State v. Quada*, 918 P.2d 883, 886-87 (Utah App. 1996), Quada complained that the trial court erred in refusing to give a jury instruction on justification for using force to effect a citizen’s arrest. *Id.* at 886-87. But the court found that any error in refusing to give the requested instruction was harmless and did not affect Quada’s substantial rights. *Id.* at 887 (citing Utah R. Crim. P. 19, 30). Under the citizen’s arrest statute then in effect, a person was allowed to make a citizen’s arrest under narrowly defined circumstances. *Id.* (citing Utah Code Ann. §77-7-3 (1995)). But one was not allowed to use deadly force. *Id.* (citing Utah Code Ann. §76-2-403 (1995)). The jury convicted Quada of aggravated assault, necessarily finding that he used a dangerous weapon likely to produce death or serious bodily injury and thus that he had used “deadly force.” *Id.* As a result, even had the jury been properly instructed on the right to make a citizen’s arrest, the jury could not have

found that Quada had made a lawful citizen's arrest. *Id.* Therefore, any error in refusing to give Quada's requested jury instruction was harmless and did not affect his substantial rights. *Id.*

B. Defendant was not entitled to a self-defense jury instruction; alternatively, denial of the instruction caused Defendant no harm.

Defendant was not entitled to a self-defense instruction. First, as the trial court reasoned, self-defense is not a justification applicable to criminal mischief. R240:425. Second, even if self-defense were applicable to criminal mischief, there was no rational basis in the evidence for giving a self-defense instruction with respect to the charge for criminal mischief. And third, even if Defendant were entitled to the instruction, he suffered no harm from the court's refusal to give it.

1. Self-defense is not a justification for criminal mischief.

As the trial court reasoned, self-defense is not a justification for criminal mischief. R240:425. The self-defense statute provides a defense for using force against another to defend oneself against the other's unlawful use of force. See Utah Code Ann. §76-2-402. Therefore, under the proper circumstances, a defendant can claim self-defense for using such force. Here, under his version of the facts, Defendant could perhaps have claimed that he hit or pushed Michelle or even took the phone from her to defend

himself from her alleged blows. In other words, he could have claimed self-defense as a justification for his assault on her. But self-defense does not provide a justification for the intentional destruction of an object. *See id.* Therefore, the trial court correctly declined to give the instruction.

2. There was no rational basis in the evidence to support a self-defense instruction.

Alternatively, there was no rational basis in the evidence to support Defendant's requested instruction. Under the subsection of the criminal mischief statute applicable here, a person commits criminal mischief if he "intentionally damages . . . the property of another." Utah Code Ann. §76-6-106(2)(c). Although three witnesses testified about the August 2010 incident, none of them testified to facts that could show that Defendant intentionally damaged Michelle's phone in self-defense.

Michelle's testimony. Michelle testified that after Defendant threw her down the stairs, she went back upstairs to get her cell phone and call her mother for a ride. R239:79. Defendant had the phone. R239:78-79. She asked for it so she could make her call and said she would call the police if he did not give it to her. R239:84-85. Instead of giving her the phone, Defendant "threw it from the top of the stairs to the bottom of the stairs." R239:85-86, 92. As she ran out of the home, she found the phone in pieces on the floor by the television at the bottom of the steps. R239:88, 93.

Michelle's version of the facts provides no rational basis for a self-defense instruction. Nothing in her version suggests that she used or was about to use unlawful force against Defendant. Under her version of the events, Defendant was the aggressor. Because he was the aggressor, he had no right invoke self-defense. *See* Utah Code Ann. §76-2-402(2)(iii).

Defendant's testimony. Defendant testified that Michelle repeatedly hit or slapped him and that the last time she tried to hit him the phone was in her hand so he removed it. R240:303-13. After they ended up falling down together at the top of the stairs, Defendant ran down the hall into the bedroom and locked the door. R240:313.

Based on his version of the facts, Defendant may have been entitled to a self-defense instruction with respect to the assault charge, but not the criminal mischief charge. According to Defendant, he did not commit criminal mischief, because he did not intentionally destroy Michelle's property. *See* Utah Code Ann. §76-6-106(2)(c) (requiring that an act of criminal mischief be done intentionally). Rather, he testified, he took the phone from her to protect himself and then went into his bedroom.

Defendant claims on appeal that the phone was damaged when he took it from Michelle. Br. Appellant 28. But he did not testify to that below. Rather, he testified only that he took the phone from Michelle, not that the

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